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DECLARATION OF PAMELA SPEES 

 I, PAMELA SPEES, declare, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 and subject to the penalties of 

perjury, that the following is true and correct: 

1. I am an attorney at the Center for Constitutional Rights and co-counsel for Plaintiff 

Jeremy Bigwood in the above-captioned matter. 

2. I submit this declaration, based on my own personal knowledge and based on the 

documents discussed below, in opposition to the motion for summary judgment filed by 

Defendant Department of Defense (“DOD”).  

3. Plaintiff submitted two requests under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) to the 

United States Southern Command (“Southcom”), which is a subcomponent of DOD. The 

requests sought records relating to the 2009 coup d’état in Honduras and actors believed to have 

played a role in carrying out and/or generating support for the coup, as the U.S. military has a 

significant presence in Honduras and shares control of an airbase through which the ousted 

president was flown during the coup. After exhausting his administrative remedies without 
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having received any records responsive to his requests from DOD, Plaintiff filed the instant 

action. See Declaration of Jeremy Bigwood (“Bigwood Decl.”) at ¶¶ 3-12 & Exs. A-F.
1
 

4. After Plaintiff brought this action and nearly two years after the original requests were 

filed, Defendant produced one set of documents on June 20, 2011 in response to Plaintiff’s 

request concerning the coup d’état against President Manuel Zelaya (“Coup d’État Request”), 

and another on July 7, 2011, in response to his request concerning Honduran General Romeo 

Vásquez Velasquez (the “RVV Request”). Together, these productions consisted of 71 records 

which totaled 298 pages (collectively the “First Production”).
2
 Thereafter, on September 26, 

2013, Defendant produced a second set of records consisting of 88 documents totaling 784 pages 

(“Second Production”). 

Consultations with DOD Concerning Inadequacy of Searches 

5. After reviewing the declaration of Major Lisa R. Bloom (“Bloom Decl.”), ECF No. 25-2, 

I believe it necessary to make certain clarifications. With respect to Bloom’s description of 

DOD’s first search, she states that “[a] series of discussions between DOD and Plaintiff” were 

“the basis for the search terms that USSOUTHCOM applied.”  Bloom Decl. at ¶ 7. However, at 

no time did the parties discuss or stipulate which search terms should be used for the first search. 

In fact, Plaintiff was advised by defense counsel that DOD had the search under way before suit 

was filed. 

                                                        
1  This declaration addresses only the two requests directed to Defendant DOD. Plaintiff 

also submitted a FOIA request to Defendant Central Intelligence Agency (“CIA”), but is not 

contesting the CIA’s Glomar response, as previously stated to the Court in his Motion for 

Modification of Briefing Schedule, ECF No. 27. 
 
2  On December 20, 2013, DOD produced a revised version of the First Production which 

addressed concerns Plaintiff previously identified with the labeling of exemptions. It did not 

contain any new records. 
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6.  After making repeated requests for the search terms used for the first production, 

Plaintiff received that information on September 6, 2011, during a teleconference with defense 

counsel in which I took part. The search terms provided by defense counsel at that point differ 

from those provided in the Bloom Declaration. With respect to the Coup d’État Request, defense 

counsel advised at that time that the terms used were: Coups/Coups d’etat, Zelaya, Honduras 

2009, Election 2009, Zelaya arrest, Zelaya resignation, Military activity/Zelaya, Court 

decision/Zelaya.
3
 With respect to the RVV Request, the list of terms provided was: Vasquez; 

Honduran General Romeo Vasquez; Biographical information/Vasquez; Reinstatement of 

General Vasquez; Supreme Court decision on General Vasquez.
4
 Defense counsel also stated at 

this time that four entities (Southcom subcomponents) had been searched.  This information was 

different from the information now provided in the Bloom Declaration, which states that 

Southcom identified six subcomponents for search in 2011.  See Bloom Decl. at ¶ 8. 

7. Likewise, with respect to the supplemental search undertaken by DOD as described in the 

Bloom Declaration at ¶¶ 11-12, Plaintiff never agreed to or stipulated as to which search terms 

should be applied, and would not have been in a position to do so without information as to the 

DOD’s databases or search methodology. I respectfully refer the Court to the expert declaration 

of Daniel Regard for an elaboration of concerns about the technical unknowns of Defendant’s 

search methodology.  

                                                        
3
  This list differs from that provided in the Bloom Declaration at ¶ 7, i.e.: “Coups/Coups 

d’états; Zelaya; Honduras 2009; Elections 2009; Zelaya’s Arrest; Zelaya Resignation; Military 

Activities/Zelaya; Court Decisions/Zelaya; Manual Zelaya; Zelaya Exile; Zelaya Oust; Zelaya 

Arrest; Zelaya Removal; Honduras Coups.” Bloom Decl. at ¶ 7. 

 
4
  This list also differs from that provided in the Bloom Declaration at ¶ 7, i.e.: “Romeo 

Vasquez; CHOD Vasquez; and General Vasquez.” Bloom Decl. at ¶ 7. 
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8. Plaintiff did, however, communicate to DOD a number of specific issues and concerns 

about the deficiency of DOD’s searches, including references within the documents themselves 

as well as in publicly available information which clearly indicated that other responsive 

documents existed. See, e.g., Email from Anjana Samant, counsel for Plaintiff, to Nathan 

Swinton, defense counsel, dated July 29, 2011, a true and correct copy of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit A, and Email from Pamela Spees, counsel for Plaintiff, to Nathan Swinton, 

defense counsel, dated Dec. 22, 2011, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B (“Dec. 22, 2011, email”) (attachments not included).  

9. These deficiencies were particularly concerning since the First Production was 

characterized as a “complete release” and defense counsel further confirmed via email that no 

responsive documents had been withheld in full. See Letter from Nathan Swinton, defense 

counsel, dated June 20, 2011, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C 

(characterizing the production as “complete release”) and Email from Nathan Swinton, defense 

counsel, to Anjana Samant, counsel for Plaintiff, dated July 7, 2011, a true and correct copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit D (confirming no documents were withheld in full).  

10. DOD eventually agreed to supplement the search even though it maintained that its first 

search was adequate. See Email from Nathan Swinton, defense counsel, to Anjana Samant, dated 

September 27, 2011, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit E. After 

locating additional documents responsive to the requests, DOD notified Plaintiff that processing 

information the agency deemed non-responsive could take more than a year due to the 

involvement of other agencies to which Plaintiff agreed. On September 26, 2013, DOD produced 

an additional 784 pages. The vast majority of these records consisted of “Intelligence Executive 

Highlights.” Subsequent to receiving and reviewing the production, counsel conferred on 
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December 23, 2013, at which time DOD identified the entities searched but not the search terms 

or methodology, systems or software, databases or personnel utilized in the supplemental search. 

11. With respect to the indications of deficient searches in both productions, Plaintiff has 

identified and conferred with DOD about the following: 

a. Cables, communications or other correspondence. Plaintiff’s Coup d’État Request 

specifically sought, without limitation, “inter-agency communications to and from 

USSOUTHCOM, as US officers in Honduras may have been informing other US 

government entities about the coup.” In the Dec. 22, 2011 email to DOD, I specifically 

highlighted the “wholesale absence of this category of documents.” Ex. B. I also provided 

DOD with a cable from the U.S. Embassy in Honduras (“Timeline Cable”) that had been 

produced in response to an unrelated FOIA request by the Plaintiff to the State 

Department and which indicated it had also been sent to Southcom. The Timeline Cable 

was replete with information directly relevant to both requests and would have been in 

the possession of Southcom. A true copy of the Timeline Cable is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit F.  This category of information is also absent from the Second Production. With 

the exception of the Timeline Cable that Plaintiff provided to DOD, there were no other 

cables, emails or correspondence of any kind in the Second Production. A true and 

correct copy of the Southcom version of the Timeline Cable is attached hereto as Exhibit 

G. 

b. General Vasquez and School of the Americas. In the Dec. 22, 2011, email to Defendant, I 

pointed to records released previously in response to an unrelated FOIA request that 

showed General Romeo Vásquez Velásquez, chief of the Honduran Armed Forces, 

attended the School of the Americas twice, with one of those times falling within the time 
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frame of the RVV Request, i.e. since May 1, 1979. School of the Americas is a military 

training institute located on the U.S. Army Base in Fort Benning, Georgia, and has since 

been renamed and is now known as the Western Hemisphere Institute for Security 

Cooperation. See http://www.benning.army.mil/tenant/whinsec/. Previously released 

records indicated that Vásquez attended the school in 1976 and 1984, yet DOD produced 

very little in response to the request for records about the general and nothing indicating 

his attendance at a military institute operated on a U.S. military base. No documents of 

this nature were produced in the Second Production.   

c. After-Action Reports. In the Dec. 22, 2011, email Plaintiff also called attention to a 

reference in one of the documents, entitled “Zelaya Exile,” to a “comprehensive AAR” 

that was to be conducted, though no such After-Action Reports or comparable documents 

were produced. See Document entitled “Zelaya Exile,” dated June 28, 2009, Bates-

stamped Southcom 232, at 239, produced by Defendant on June 20, 2011, a true and 

correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit H. No such documents were 

produced in the Second Production either.  

d. A “fixed wing aircraft.” The Zelaya Exile record also contained the statement, “JTF-B J2 

confirmed that a fixed wing aircraft departed Soto Cano Air Base for CRI shortly 

thereafter” but DOD did not produce any other documents or communications of any 

kind concerning this matter or exchange from any of its components, even though DOD 

confirmed JTF-Bravo J2 was searched. See Ex. H at 234. Such information would be 

highly relevant since President Zelaya was forced out of the country during the coup via 

the official government airplane that departed from Soto Cano Air Base and Plaintiff’s 

request explicitly sought information such as this. See Bigwood Decl. at ¶ 3 & Ex. A 
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(Plaintiff’s FOIA request emphasizing it “would definitely include any records of the 

passage of the kidnapped president through any military bases, such as Soto Cano – 

which has a significant U.S. presence”). In fact, another document in the First Production 

– which we learned after receipt of the Vaughn Index is titled “Joint Task Force Bravo 

Logs” – indicates that the U.S. military was tracking the flight path of a plane carrying 

President Zelaya several days after the coup on July 5, 2009, as he attempted to return to 

his country and land at the civilian airport in Tegucigalpa, Honduras. See “Joint Task 

Force Bravo Logs,” Bates-stamped Southcom 221-231, produced by DOD on June 20, 

2011, a true and correct copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit I. Yet no similar log 

or documentation of any kind, including control tower records, or other communication, 

was produced concerning the arrival and departure of the official Honduran government 

plane that flew in and out of a military base jointly controlled by the U.S. military in the 

early morning hours of June 28, 2009, during a time of heightened concern and security 

issues.  

e. Source material. A number of documents in the Second Production reference source 

material, including emails or other forms of correspondence providing the basis for some 

of the information listed in the Intelligence Highlights. This source material was not 

produced even though it appeared to be in the possession of Southcom or its 

component(s) and was relied upon in producing intelligence reports. See Letter from P. 

Spees, Plaintiff’s counsel, to T. Zimpleman, defense counsel, dated Dec. 23, 2011, a true 

and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit J (identifying 59 records 

referencing source material). I attach hereto as Exhibit K a true and correct copy of a 

chart entitled “Documents Referencing Source Material Not Produced” created by 
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Plaintiff’s counsel. The chart lists a sample set of six documents produced by DOD with 

their corresponding Bates numbers and Vaughn descriptions, noting the references to 

source material that was not produced. True and correct copies of the documents listed in 

this chart are annexed to Exhibit K as Documents 1-6. 

f. Over-redactions. In attempt to focus and narrow issues arising in the productions, 

Plaintiff also expressed concern about the basis for and scope of redactions and identified 

indications that exemptions were applied too broadly. DOD declined to engage further 

review of the records.  Letter from Thomas Zimpleman, defense counsel, to P. Spees, counsel 

for Plaintiff, dated Jan. 10, 2014, a true and correct copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit 

L. Plaintiff also raised at different points concerns that (b)(1) exemptions were not in compliance 

with Executive Order 13526, 75 Fed. Reg. 707 (Dec. 29, 2009), which requires that “at the time 

of original classification” the  “identity, by name and position, or by personal identifier, of the 

original classification authority” “be indicated in a manner that is immediately apparent.” 

Executive Order 13526, § 1.6..  

Additional Exhibits 

The following documents were produced by DOD:  

12. Attached as Exhibit M is a true and correct copy of a document entitled “Mission 

Analysis,” Bates-stamped Southcom 177, produced on June 20, 2011. 

13. Attached as Exhibit N is a true and correct copy of a document entitled “Intelligence 

Executive Highlights,” dated July 20, 2009, Bates-stamped Southcom 783, produced on 

September 26, 2013. 

14. Attached as Exhibit O is a true and correct copy of a document entitled “MILGROUP-

Honduras Daily SITREP, 3 Aug. 09,” Bates–stamped Southcom 97, produced on June 20, 2011.  

Case 1:11-cv-00602-KBJ   Document 29   Filed 03/18/14   Page 8 of 81



9 
 

15. Attached as Exhibit P is a true and correct copy of a document entitled “Intelligence 

Assessment,” Bates-stamped Southcom145, produced on June 20, 2011.  

16. Attached as Exhibit Q is a document entitled “MILGROUP-Honduras Daily Sitrep, 20 

Jun 2009,” Bates-stamped Southcom 1-2, produced on June 20, 2011. 

17. Attached as Exhibit R is a document entitled “United States Southern Command 

USSOUTHCOM Headline News,” Bates-stamped Southcom 333, produced on September 26, 

2013. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my 

knowledge. 

Dated:  New York, NY 

 March 18, 2014 

 

       _________________________ 

PAMELA SPEES 
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Pam Spees

From: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) <Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov>
Sent: Friday, July 29, 2011 2:36 PM
To: Anjana Samant
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD:  follow-up questions

Anjana‐ 
 
Thanks for getting me your questions so quickly.  I will confer with agency counsel and provide you with responses, 
where appropriate, in a reasonable amount of time.  Upon taking an initial look at your questions, I think we will be able 
to respond fairly quickly to the questions related to the Vasquez request (dated July 8, 2009), as we provided you with 
the same information for Mr. Bigwood’s first request (dated July 1, 2009).  I will need to confer more with Southcom 
about the information requested in your second batch of questions. 
 
Nate  
 
From: Anjana Samant [mailto:ASamant@ccrjustice.org]  
Sent: Friday, July 29, 2011 1:53 PM 
To: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) 
Cc: Pam Spees 
Subject: Bigwood v. DOD: follow-up questions 
 
Nate, 
  
As discussed on our call today, we have questions about the adequacy of the search conducted by DOD in processing the 
FOIA requests at issue in this litigation.  These questions are separate from concerns about and objections to redactions 
made in the documents produced to date (whether based on exemptions or relevance) and are still reviewing these. 
  
For quick reference, recall that DOD’s June 20, 2011 production is in response to Plaintiff’s request that the US Southern 
Command produce all records concerning “the coup against Honduras’ President Manuel Zelaya,” including but not 
limited to: “any observations or reports about the activities of the Honduran Armed Forces with respect to the coup – as 
well as the coup itself”; “any records of the passage of the kidnapped president through any military bases, such as Soto 
Cano – which has a significant US presence”; “any reports about the impeding coup d’état before it actually took place”; 
and “inter‐agency communications to and from USSOUTHCOM, as US officers in Honduras may have been informing 
other US government entities about the coup.”  DOD’s July 1, 2011 production corresponds to Plaintiff’s request that the 
US Southern Command produce all records “relating to General Romeo Vasquez” of the Honduran Army and search for 
records “starting with the date May 1st, 1979” until the date of processing.  The request further specified, without 
limiting the request, that the production include “any biographic sketches” of General Vasquez. 
 
Based on references in the documents themselves as well as publicly available information, both sets of productions 
appear to be incomplete.  To evaluate the adequacy of the searches, we ask that DOD provide clarification about certain 
issues, as set forth below. 
  
With respect to the July 1, 2011 production of records “relating to General Romeo Vasquez”, we ask that DOD identify: 
(a)    the number of records found as a result of the search; 
(b)    the number of records, if any, that have been withheld in their entirety; and 
(c)    the dates used to conduct the search.  
  
With respect to each production, we ask that DOD identify: 
(a)    the date on which each produced document was created; 
(b)    the specific agencies or entities that conducted a search and referred their findings to DOD; 
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(c)    the particular FOIA office/officer that processed the searches; and 
(d)    the terms used to conduct searches and any specific databases that were reviewed. 
  
We appreciate your efforts to provide a prompt response to these inquiries. 
  
Regards, 
Anjana 
  
  
  
Anjana Samant | Center for Constitutional Rights | 666 Broadway 7th Floor | NY NY 10012 | 212.614.6464 
This message contains CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION which may be legally privileged and which is intended only for the use of the address(es) named 
above.  If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you are hereby notified that any dissemination or copying of this email is prohibited.  If you have 
received this message in error, please notify us by telephone. 
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Pam Spees

From: Pam Spees
Sent: Thursday, December 22, 2011 4:12 PM
To: 'Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov'
Cc: Abigail Downs
Subject: Bigwood v. DOD, et al
Attachments: Bigwood v. DOD - File A - Bates stamped.zip; Bigwood v. DOD - File B - Bates stamped.zip; 

Bigwood v. DOD - File C - Bates stamped.zip; Bigwood v DOD - File RVV - Bates 
stamped.zip; Exhibit A.pdf

Hi Nate, 
 
I hope this email finds you well.  
 
As Anjana indicated previously, I will be leading the litigation from our side now that she transitioned out of 
CCR. I have had a chance to debrief with her and review the status of communications. Below please find a 
non-exhaustive list of the issues we’ve identified as indicative of the inadequacy of Defendants’ searches, along 
with a few additional items, as well as a list of matters that I understand Defendants have indicated they would 
clarify or otherwise follow-up on. 
 
For ease of reference, I have attached a bates-stamped version of Defendants’ production and below refer to 
documents on that basis. 
 
Indications of deficient search 

 
• Throughout the entire production, to the extent Defendants base redactions on Executive Order 13526, we 

believe the redactions are not in compliance with the Order as defendants have not included declassification 
dates, nor identified the individual who reviewed and made the redactions. 
 

• Defendants made two separate productions in response to each of the two FOIA requests concerning the 
Department of Defense.  The parties had no agreement or understanding that Defendants were making any 
kind of “global” production, and Defendants also stated that they had not withheld any documents in their 
entirety under any exemption claim.   

 
(A) Below is a list of documents that Defendants produced in response to the coup against President Zelaya 

FOIA request but not in response to the General Romeo Vasquez Velasquez FOIA request, even though 
these documents also were responsive to the latter.   

 
1. COA Brief Redacted file – DOD36 contains a photograph with a caption identifying General Romeo 
Vasquez Velasquez. 

 
            2. July SitReps I file – DOD126-128 (July 10 SitRep) includes the following statement in the fifth bullet 
point:  “Of note, both de facto president Micheletti and CHOD General Vasquez have been investigated." 
 
            3. July SitReps II file – DOD176 (July 27 SitRep) includes the following statement in the seventh bullet 
point under “Political”:  “This afternoon, HND CHoD Gen Romeo Vásquez, reportedly visited the HND/NIC 
border area where Pres Zelaya staged his weekend rallies. (El Heraldo)”  
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            4. Unclassified Articles file – DOD216 includes the following statement at the end of the 
paragraph:  “President Lobo and CHOD Vasquez Velasquez traveled to the Brazilian Embassy in order to safely 
escort Zelaya, who has been holed up there since 21 SEP, to the airport.”   
 

(B) Below is one example of documents produced in response to the FOIA request concerning General 
Romeo Vasquez Velasquez but not in response to the coup against President Zelaya request, even 
though it is responsive to both.   

 
                        1. 12 Point Accord file – on DOD299, the paragraph designated “Executive Summary” concerns 
the status of Accords negotiations, the latest position being that Micheletti agreed to 12-point proposal 
permitting Zelaya to return to office, etc. 
 
• You indicated that Defendants’ search for responsive documents covered JTF-Bravo J2 and J3.  However, 

in the Zelaya Exile file (DOD228-247), DOD230 contains the statement, “JTF-B J2 confirmed that a fixed 
wing aircraft departed Soto Cano Air Base for CRI shortly thereafter,” but Defendants did not produce any 
documents concerning this matter or exchange. 
 

• In the Zelaya Exile file (DOD228-247), DOD235 indicates that a “comprehensive AAR” was to be 
conducted, however we have not received any After-Action Reports or other comparable documents which 
clearly would have been responsive to the coup against Zelaya FOIA request. 

 
• SouthComm also has not produced a single “Daily Intelligence Summary” referencing either to the coup 

against President Zelaya or General Rome Vasquez Velasquez, although such reports are created on a 
regular basis and would have covered an event as significant as a coup in Honduras.   

 
• With respect to the time frame used for the searches:  Defendants claim that, for the coup against Zelaya 

FOIA request – they searched for documents starting from May 1, 2009, yet the earliest date on the 
produced documents is June 28, 2009.  One of the pages in the Powerpoint presentation is labeled Coup 
Rumors, indicating that there was info circulating about a coup against Zelaya well before June 28, 2009, 
but we do not have anything prior to that date.  Additionally, if you look at SitReps, the Sept & Oct SitReps 
discuss Zelaya’s re-entry into the country and stay in the Brazilian embassy. Zelaya did not leave until the 
end of the year, but the Sit Reps do not continue past October.  Also, there are sporadically missing dates – 
this was an ongoing event and it is inconceivable that there was no reporting done of events/info related to 
the coup against Zelaya during these critical months.  We know that the MilGroup Sit Reps are produced on 
a daily or near-daily basis, not only in times of some special event, so there should be more responsive ones 
out there. 

 
• Defendants have not produced any cables, communications, or other such correspondence concerning the 

subject matter of the two requests.  The wholesale absence of this category of documents alone raises 
questions about the extent of Defendants’ search.  Furthermore, through documents received in response to 
other FOIA requests by our client, we know that Defendants are or were in possession of such 
documents.  For instance, in response to a separate request made by our client, the Department of State 
produced the document attached as Exhibit A.  US “SOUTHCOMM MIAMI FL” is listed as a recipient of 
the cable, which discusses, as stated in the Summary section, “the Embassy’s timeline of political and legal 
events leading up to the June 28, 2009 coup.”   

 
• The Zelaya Exile file (DOD228-247), contains pages (which appear to be slides from a PowerPoint 

presentation) containing large amounts of white space – specifically, the pages titled “Implied Tasks”, 
“Mission Essential Task”, “Constraints”, and “Restraints.” It appears that the white space may be a 
redaction that was unmarked or that pages/slides are missing from the file. Please confirm whether this file 
(Zelaya Exile) has in fact been produced in its entirety and whether the pages noted above are redactions or 
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were produced in their original format.  Similarly, the “COA Brief Redacted” file (DOD1-44) contains a 
page titled “Force Laydown” that is entirely blank, but no redaction is claimed.  Please confirm whether this 
page was produced in its original format and/or any exemptions defendants intend to assert.  

 
• The two PMSEII files (DOD48-66 and DOD280-298) appear to be missing pages or the pages are out of 

order.  The document, which appears to be a PowerPoint slide presentation has two consecutive pages titled 
“Questions” (DOD59-60/DOD291-292), without any material in between.  Additionally, the pages are 
ordered such that DOD60/DOD292 is marked “16” in the lower right-hand corner, but a few pages later, a 
slide is marked “14” in the lower right-hand corner.  Please confirm that this file was produced in its entirety 
and in the same order and manner as it was kept by Defendants. 

 
The following item was not discussed with you previously, but serves as further evidence of the deficiency of 
Defendants’ search for documents responsive to the request concerning General Romeo Vasquez Velasquez: 

• In June 2009, the WHINSEC confirmed that General Romeo Vasquez Velasquez attended the School of the 
Americas in 1976 and 1984.  Defense produced at least some documents surrounding his attendance in 1996 
in response to a previously filed FOIA request by the School of the Americas Watch.  See e.g., 
http://m.cbsnews.com/relatedfullstory.rbml?feed_id=0&catid=5125109&videofeed=36. Defendants have 
not produced any documentation Vasquez Velasquez’s attendance or other such issues.   

 
Outstanding items from Defendants 
During your telephone call with Anjana, you indicated some changes or supplemental information that 
Defendants were making.  Since we have not received follow-up on those matters, we have listed those items 
below.  Please let us know if any issue is omitted. 
 
• The duplicate PMSEII files are missing a cover page that contains a date.  You asked whether we wanted to 

simply insert that single page or would like that particular PDF file re-produced with the missing page 
included.  Anjana requested that the file be re-produced as a single complete document.  Please forward us 
that amended production. 
 

• With respect to the July SitRep I and July SitRep II files, Department of State and Department of Defense 
miscommunicated concerning redactions such that, in fact, State would not be defending any of the b(7)(E) 
or b(7)(F) redactions that it had made in those files.  With respect to any b(7)(E) or b(7)(F) redactions that 
were made by both State and Defense, you were awaiting clarification from Defense as to whether they 
would continue to defend those redactions or would also release that information.  Please let us know where 
this stands.   

 
• With respect to the files titled “Who Authorized Zelaya’s Removal,” “Honduran National Elections,” and 

“Who Removed President Zelaya and Why”, State was changing all b(7)(E) and b(7)(F) redactions that it 
had made to b(1) redactions.  However, any b(7)(E) and b(7)(F) redactions made jointly by State and 
another agency would remain as such.  Please confirm that this is correct.   

 
• State and Defense also miscommunicated about the redactions in the files titled, “Who Authorized Zelaya’s 

Removal”, “Honduran San Jose Accords: Substance or Symbolic”, “Intelligence Quadrant”, “Zelaya 
Heightens Political Tensions”.  Anywhere State bases redactions on 1.4(a) and 1.4(c), they in fact should 
have been marked 1.4(b) and 1.4(d).  Anywhere Defense bases redactions on 1.4(b) and 1.4(d), it should be 
1.4(a) and 1.4(c).  (In sum, State does not make any 1.4(a) or 1.4(b) redactions in this file and Defense does 
not make any 1.4(b) and 1.4(d) redactions in this file.  If the redaction was made by both agencies, all four 
bases would apply.)  Please confirm that this understanding correctly reflects Defendants’ position. 
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Finally, I wanted to inquire whether DOD has reconsidered its position regarding a Vaughn index as we 
continue to believe it would assist in winnowing down the issues that would require briefing. 
 
I’m happy to discuss any of these matters at your convenience. In the meantime, we send you best wishes for 
happy holidays. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Pam Spees 
Staff Attorney 
Center for Constitutional Rights 
666 Broadway, 7th Fl. 
New York, NY 10012 
T (212) 614-6431 
F (212) 614-6422 
pspees@ccrjustice.org 
www.ccrjustice.org 
 
Follow us on Facebook and Twitter at @theCCR 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 

This message contains information which may be confidential and privileged. Unless you are the addressee (or 
authorized to receive for the addressee), you may not use, copy or disclose to anyone the message or any 
information contained in the message. If you have received the message in error, please advise the sender and 
delete the message. 
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Pam Spees

From: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) <Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov>
Sent: Thursday, July 07, 2011 2:29 PM
To: Anjana Samant
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD: production follow-up

Hi Anjana‐ 
 
In response to your questions, DOD states the following: 
 

1.  All documents responsive to Mr. Bigwood’s July 1, 2009 request were produced in the June 20, 2011 
production.  Although portions of certain responsive documents were obviously redacted, no responsive 
document was withheld in full. 

2. The time period used by DOD in processing Mr. Bigwood’s July 1, 2009 request was that provided by Mr. 
Bigwood in the request itself:  May 1, 2009 until the time of processing. 

 
If you still have any questions about these points, please let me know. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Nate 
 
Nathan Swinton 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch 
(202) 305‐7667 
Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov 
 
 
 
From: Anjana Samant [mailto:ASamant@ccrjustice.org]  
Sent: Wednesday, July 06, 2011 5:50 PM 
To: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) 
Subject: Bigwood v. DOD: production follow-up 
 
Nate, 
 
We have been going through the DOD production and have two preliminary questions.  We did not receive information 
about how many responsive documents were found upon running the search or how many – if any – were withheld.  We 
also were unclear what dates were used to run the search.   
 
We will probably have some additional questions about the documents produced, but any clarification you can provide 
about these matters would be appreciated. 
 
Thank you, 
Anjana 
 

Anjana Samant | Center for Constitutional Rights | 666 Broadway 7th Floor | NY NY 10012 | 212.614.6464 
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This message contains CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION which may be legally privileged and which is intended only for the use of the address(es) named 
above.  If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you are hereby notified that any dissemination or copying of this email is prohibited.  If you have 
received this message in error, please notify us by telephone. 
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Pam Spees

From: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) <Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 27, 2011 10:06 AM
To: Anjana Samant
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD

Hi Anajana‐ 
 
I’ve spoken with Southcom and wanted to touch base with you about two things: 
 

1. The search dates for the second production were all documents up to the time of processing, which was April 5, 
2011. 
 

2. Southcom maintains that it conducted an adequate search in response to both of Mr. Bigwood’s FOIA 
requests.  Nevertheless, in the interest of narrowing the issues for briefing, Southcom is willing to supplement 
its search in response to your email below.  That is, Southcom has agreed to look for specific time periods, 
search terms, databases, pages, etc, that Mr. Bigwood identifies.  However, Southcom is not willing to re‐run the 
search in its entirety.  If this is agreeable to your client, please let me know and we can discuss moving the court 
to reschedule briefing. 
 

Thanks, 
 
Nate 
 
Nathan Swinton 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch 
(202) 305‐7667 
Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov 
 
    
 
From: Anjana Samant [mailto:ASamant@ccrjustice.org]  
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2011 1:58 PM 
To: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) 
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD 
 
Nate,   
 
Thanks for the correction concerning the dates – I will wait to hear from you about the search timeframe for the General 
Vasquez FOIA request. 
 
As I mentioned yesterday, I would ask that DOD produce new files reflecting the changes you informed me of so as to 
maintain the integrity of the files and leave no question about what the produced documents ultimately are.  If you 
want to discuss this further, just let me know. 
 
Also, I had indicated that there were some pages about which we had other questions.  In the “Honduras: Zelaya Exile” 
file, there are slides titled “Implied Tasks”, “Mission Essential Task”, “Constraints”, and “Restraints”, all of which have 
large amounts of white space.  I just want to confirm whether these pages  have been produced in their entirety or if 
they contain unmarked redactions.  On the same point, the “COA Brief Redacted” file contains a page titled “Force 
Laydown” that is entirely blank, but no redaction is identified.  Please let us know about those documents.  Additionally, 
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some redactions do not have the responsible authority identified – for instance, the file labeled “Hondura: Zelaya Exile” 
contains pages that have redactions but no reviewing agency identified. 
 
Although we did not discuss this yesterday, to the extent the production includes redactions citing Executive Order 
13526, they are not properly marked, e.g., no declassification date is provided nor is the individual reviewing the 
documents and making the redactions identified. 
 
While other documents, contemporaneous news reports, and various publicly available information further indicate that 
the search conducted by DOD was inadequate, my purpose in our call yesterday was not to begin briefing of the issue 
“informally” or suggesting that the matters discussed represent the entire universe of missing documents or evidence of 
search deficiencies.  I am hopeful that, through the sample of issues discussed, the agency will better understand the 
basis for and strength of the claim, and enter into good faith effort to resolve some of these issues before we go to 
Court. 
 
If you wish to discuss any of this further, I am happy to do so.  I will be working remotely next week but am available via 
email and can schedule a follow‐up call with you. 
 
Thank you, 
Anjana 
 
 
From: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) [mailto:Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov]  
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2011 10:15 AM 
To: Anjana Samant 
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD 
 
Hi Anjana‐ 
 
I wanted to follow up on our conversation from yesterday.  First, thank you for sharing with me the specific examples 
you had regarding the adequacy‐of‐the‐search issue.  Having those has helped us evaluate whether we want to move 
forward with the current briefing schedule.  When you get a chance, can you send me an email with any other examples 
that we didn’t discuss? 
 
Second, I spoke with counsel for Southcom this morning and asked about the dates used for the searches.  He is 
checking on the dates for the second search, but the dates for the first search were May 1, 2009 through April 21, 
2011.  I think you had indicated that the latter was through April 1, 2011, so I wanted to be sure to correct that. 
 
Third and finally, I will be sending you a letter regarding the four production issues that I referenced yesterday. 
 
Enjoy your weekend, 
 
Nate   
 
From: Anjana Samant [mailto:ASamant@ccrjustice.org]  
Sent: Thursday, September 22, 2011 2:40 PM 
To: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) 
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD 
                                                                                                                                          
Nate – I’m running a little late with meetings.  Can we speak at 3:15? 
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From: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) [mailto:Nathan.M.Swinton@usdoj.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, September 21, 2011 11:46 AM 
To: Anjana Samant 
Subject: RE: Bigwood v. DOD 
 
Hi Anjana‐ 
 
I’m tied up today but can be available tomorrow.  How about 3 pm? 
 
Nate 
 
From: Anjana Samant [mailto:ASamant@ccrjustice.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, September 20, 2011 6:10 PM 
To: Swinton, Nathan M. (CIV) 
Cc: Pam Spees 
Subject: Bigwood v. DOD 
 
Hello Nate, 
 
I would like to talk to you about the document production and upcoming summary judgment briefing.  Having reviewed 
the documents and redactions, I would like to discuss ways to possibly narrow the scope of issues in 
dispute.  Additionally, I have questions about misnumbered or incomplete documents that were produced, possible 
unmarked redactions, and missing information about redacting agencies.   
 
I am available tomorrow between 12:30 and 3:30 or on Thursday any time. 
 
Thank you, 
Anjana 

Anjana Samant | Center for Constitutional Rights | 666 Broadway 7th Floor | NY NY 10012 | 212.614.6464 

This message contains CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION which may be legally privileged and which is intended only for the use of the address(es) named 
above.  If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you are hereby notified that any dissemination or copying of this email is prohibited.  If you have 
received this message in error, please notify us by telephone. 
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UNCLASSIFIED RELEASED IN PART 
ACTION WHA-OO B 1, 1.4(B), 1.4(D) 
INFO LOG-OO EEB-OO AF-OO AMAD-OO A-OO ACQ-OO CA-OO 

CCO-OO CTME-OO INL-OO DOTE-OO DS-OO FAAE-OO FBIE-OO 
UTED-OO VCI-OO FOE-OO DIAS-OO OBO-OO H-OO TEDE-OO 
INR-OO IO-OO LAB-01 L-OO CAC-OO ARMY-OO MFLO-OO 
MOFM-OO MOF-OO M-OO VCIE-OO DCP-OO NSAE-OO OCS-OO 
OIG-OO OMB-OO NlMA-OO OPR-OO EPAU-OO PA-OO MCC-OO 
PER-OO PM-OO PRS-OO SGAC-OO SCT-OO SP-OO IRM-OO 
SSO-OO SS-OO USSS-OO FMP-OO EPAE-OO SCRS-OO PMB-OO 
DSCC-OO PRM-OO DRL-OO NFAT-OO SAS-OO DTT-OO FA-OO 
SWCI-OO PESU-OO /OOlW 

------------------856BC3 022024Z /38 
P 022012Z JUL 09 
FM AMEMBASSY TEGUCIGALPA 
TO SECSTATE WASHDC PRIORITY 0006 
INFO WESTERN HEMISPHERIC AFFAIRS DIPL POSTS 
USINT HAVANA 
NSC WASHDC 
CDR USSOUTHCOM MIAMI FL//CINC/POLAD// 
CDRJTFB SOTO CANO HO 
HQ USSOUTHCOM J5 MIAMI FL 
USSOUTHCOM MIAMI FL 
DIRJIATF SOUTH 
JOINT STAFF WASHDC 
DIA WASHINGTON DC 
DNI WASHINGTON DC 
CIA WASHDC 
MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORP 
SECDEF WASHDC 

UNCLAS TEGUCIGALPA 000527 

SIPDIS 

STATE FOR WHA/CEN 

E.O. 12958: N/A 
TAGS: PGOV, PINR, KJUS, EAID, PHUM, MARR, HO 
SUBJECT: Honduran Coup Timeline 

REF: Tegucigalpa 523 and others 

1. Summary: The following is the Embassy's timeline of political and 
legal events leading up to the June 28, 2009 coup. I 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF STATE 
CLASSIFIED BY DEPT. OF STATE, L. HEDGBETH, DAS, AlGIS 
REVIEW AUTHORITY: ADOLPH HEISNER 
CLASSIFICATION: CONFIDENTIAL REASON: 1.4(B), 1.4(D) 
DECLASSIFY AFTER: 1 JUL 2019 
DATE/CASE ID: 21 AUG 2009 200905816 

UNCLASSIFIED 

E9 

Bl 
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[ , End summary. 

Timeline 
UNCLASSIFIED 

2005: 

-- Congress repeals the impeachment law. While the Congress has the 
right to summon the President and to investigate his/her actions, 
there is no clear procedure on what action it can take after such an 
investigation. The only remaining legal means to remove a sitting 
President is for the Public Ministry to file a criminal case with 
the Honduran Supreme Court. The Supreme Court appoints a Magistrate 
to hear the case. If the Magistrate must deter.mine that the case is 
valid, after which the case will be moved to trial. During this 
process, the President will have full due legal process and is given 
the right to legal representation. A ruling by the Supreme Court 
against the President is the only way to legally separate him/her 
from the office. 

23 March 2009: 

Honduran President Jose Manuel Zelaya Rosales announces a 
plebiscite to be held on 28 June 2009 to measure popular support for 
the Fourth Urn. There will be three urns on election day November 
29, 2009, one for the President, one for Congress and one for 
mayoral candidates. The fourth urn would be for votes on whether or 
not the electorate wants to convoke a constituent assembly for the 
purpose of reforming the Honduran Constitution. 

1 May 2009: 

-- Zelaya officially launches the Fourth Urn campaign. Zelaya and 
his allies argue for reform of the constitution via a constituent 
assembly. The Fourth Urn campaign was officially launched in a May 
Day rally consisting of 5,000 - 10,000 supporters. The primary 
participants were representatives of labor unions, farmers' 
organizations and government workers who support Zelaya. Polling at 
this time suggested the Fourth Urn had between 55 percent and 75 
percent popular support. Most of those polled at the time did not 
understand the purpose of the plebiscite and approximately 90 
percent did not support the idea of Zelaya staying in power beyond 
his mandate. 

May 2009: 

-- The Attorney General's office files a case in a Federal 
Administrative court challenging the legality of the 28 June 
plebiscite. The case is to deter.mine whether the plebiscite is 

UNCLASSIFIED 

Bl 
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UNCLASSIFIED 
legal because the entity tasked with conducting the plebiscite, the 
National Statistics Institute (INE) , cannot be involved in 
activities that are political in nature. The proposal to hold a 
constituent assembly is also considered unconstitutional. 

28 May 2009: 

The Administrative Court judge rules in favor of the Attorney 
General and abrogates the President's decree authorizing the 
plebiscite. The judge instructs all government agencies to suspend 
all publicity and logistical activities related to the plebiscite. 

-- Zelaya convenes a press conference, along with the ~nister of 
Defense Edmundo «Orellana» and Ar.med Forces Chief General Romeo 
Vasquez Velasquez, to say that he will continue with the plebiscite 

despite the court order. Zelaya orders the Armed Forces to provide 
the logistics to carry out the plebiscite. 

-- In response to the ruling, Zelaya reformulates the decree, 
referring to the plebiscite as a "poll" in an effort to get around 
the court's ruling. The case returned to the court and the judge 
ruled that the decision was a broad one, covering any activity 
calling for a constituent assembly. 

16 June 2009: 

An appellate court rules in favor of the lower court!s judgment. 
Zelaya ignores the ruling and continues preparing and promoting the 
28 June poll. Following the ruling, the judge ordered the Attorney 
General to notify the President and the Armed Forces that, should 
they continue support for the poll, they would be in violation of 
the ruling and would be subject to criminal penalties and fines. 

24 June 2009: 

Zelaya fires General Vasquez after Vasquez refuses to carry out 
Zelaya!s order to provide logistical support for the 28 June poll. 
Vasquez refuses to carry out the order because he deems it illegal 
based on the courts' rulings. 

-- The chiefs of the Army, Navy and Air Force along with Minister of 
Defense Orellana resign in solidarity with General Vasquez. All 
military leaders remain in their posts despite the President!s 
firing of Vasquez and their resignations. Zelaya does not name any 
successors. 

25 June 2009: 

UNCLASSIFIED 
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-,- The Supreme Court and the National Congress are called into 
session after Honduran political leaders are unable to reach an 
agre~ent on the wording for the 28 June poll. Zelaya wants the 
poll to refer to a constituent assembly; the opposition wants the 
poll to only ask about constitutional reform and allow the National 
Congress to determine how to reform the constitution. 

-- The Supreme Electoral Tribunal (TSE), the entity responsible for 
running all official Honduran elections, rules the poll illegal. 

-- Attorney General Luis Alberto Rubi issues a statement calling 
Vasquez's firing illegal and promises to seek a court order to 
reinstate Vasquez. The Attorney General announces that his office 
will go to Air Force Headquarters to take control of poll materials, 
which had been flown in, by request of the TSE. 

-- Zelaya calls upon a group of approximately 2,000 social activists 
to go with him to Air Force headquarters to collect the materials 
before the Attorney General can do so. Air Force Chief General 
Javier Prince turns the materials over to Zelaya. 

-- The "Constitutional Hall," a five-magistrate panel of the Supreme 
Court, rules unanimously that Zelaya's firing of General Vasquez was 
illegal and reinstates Vasquez. The court requests that the case 
regarding Zelaya's poll be brought before them. 

-- Zelaya announces that logistical support for the poll will be 
provided by volunteers rather than government officials. 

-- Congressional leadership had prepared legislation to support the 
court findings of the poll's illegality, but to permit the military 
to provide logistical support without sanctions. The Congress 
refuses to support the bill. 

-- Congress nearly brings a vote to the floor to remove Zelaya from 
office. Congressional leaders ultimately decide not to vote to 
remove Zelaya. Congress launches an inquiry and creates a 
commission to look into legal violations allegedly committed by 
Zelaya and his Administration. Between 25 June and 27 June, 
Congress established 18 alleged legal violations by Zelaya, but did 
not establish proofs to support the allegations. 

26 June 2009: 

The Tegucigalpa Chamber of Commerce organizes an anti-Zelaya 
demonstration in Tegucigalpa Central Park. Several thousand 
supporters show up. 

-- Several thousand people gather outside the headquarters of the 
Honduran Military Joint Chiefs in support of the military's actions. 

UNCLASSIFIED 
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27 June 2009: 

Online newspaper Proceso Digital prints an article alleging 
Zelaya's decree, published in the 25 June issue of the official 
paper La Gaceta, states that the 28 June poll will immediately 
convoke a constituent assembly. The newspaper reports that Zelaya 
has changed the rules at the last minute, and the poll will have 
consequences not previously reported. 

-- Zelaya holds a press conference and invites foreign diplomats to 
attend under pretext of discussing the political crisis. He 
announces that he will follow through with the 28 June poll in the 
presence of the "international observers" present at the press 
conference. 

28 June 2009: 

0525 hrs: Zelaya is captured at his home by Honduran Military 
Forces. He is transported to the Air Force Base and is taken to San 
Jose, Costa Rica. Zelaya arrives in Costa Rica at 0725 hrs. The 
Congress announces it will initiate an emergency session. 

0800 hrs: A small number of protesters begin to gather in front 
of the Presidential Palace. 

0830 hrs: First reports emerge that former Honduran Foreign 
Minister Patricia Rodas Baca has been captured and removed from 
Honduras. 

-- 1100 hrs: The Supreme Court announces that Zelaya's poll was 
illegal and should not have been carried out. 

-- 1233 hrs: The Secretary of the Congress, Jose Alfredo Saavedra, 
reads an alleged resignation letter from Zelaya. The letter is 

UNCLASSIFIED 
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dated 25 June. The Congress votes to accept the resignation. 

-- 1~45 hrs: The President of the National Congress, Roberto 
Micheletti Bain, is named the constitutional President of Honduras. 
He promises elections will be held as scheduled on 29 November. The 
naming of Micheletti as President is ratified at 1530 hrs. Saavedra 
is named President of the National Congress. Enrique Ortez 
Colindres is named Foreign Minister. 

-- 1945 hrs: Zelaya leaves Costa Rica to travel to Nicaragua for 
the SICA conference. 

29 June 2009: 

Political leaders argue they removed Zelaya because of the decree 
published in the Gazette convoking the Constituent Assembly, 
something that can only be done by the Congress. The Congress was 

concerned that Zelaya would suspend the congress and the courts. 
Political leaders argue that Micheletti was named President because 
Vice President Aristides Mejia was never sworn into office. 

-- The area remains relatively calm with isolated incidents of 
violence in front of the Presidential Palace by pro-Zelaya 
protesters. 

-- Gabriela Nunez is named Finance ~nister. Adolfo Leonel Sevilla 
is named Defense ~nister. Jorge Aguilar is named Director of the 
state telecom company HONDUTEL. 

Zelaya promises to return to Honduras on Thursday, 2 July. 

30 June 2009: 

Zelaya speaks at the United Nations. Approximately 10,000 people 
participate in an anti-Zelaya protest in the Central Park. 
Approximately 2,000 protest in favor of Zelaya in front of the 
Presidential Palace. There are other isolated, scattered protests 
around the country in favor of Zelaya. 

-- The Public Ministry files charges on 18 counts against Zelaya and 
promises to arrest him if he returns to Honduras. 

-- Jorge Rodas Gamero remains as Security Minister; Sandra Midence 
heads the Central Bank. 
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December 23, 2013    Via email to: Thomas.D.Zimpleman@usdoj.gov 

 

Thomas Zimpleman 

Trial Attorney 

U.S. Department of Justice 

Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch 

 

Re:  Bigwood v. DOD, et al, Docket No. 11-cv-00602 

 

Dear Tom: 

 

In advance of today’s call, below are references to documents we have some questions about. I 

look forward to speaking with you soon.  

 

As I indicated previously, after review of the recent production, we are still concerned about the 

adequacy of the search. In addition to discussing that, we also wanted to call your attention to a 

number of documents which appear to reference as sources other records originating in other 

government agencies or components. For example, the following documents reference other 

sources we believe should have been captured by the search and included in the production. We 

don’t have to discuss each of these in detail as I am provide them by way of example. 

 

- (4/5/05 Honduras: Significant Issues) Gang Violence Spirals, USSOUTHCOM-JIC 27 

FEB 04; AmEmbassy Tegucigalpa 192150Z AUG 04; AmEmbassy Tegucigalpa, 

041857Z JAN 05 

- (6/15/09 IEH) US Embassy, Tegucigalpa Cable, 092345Z JUN 09; 

LAP20090613053003 Mexico City GMT 13 JUN 09. 

- (6/25/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa Cables, 231433Z JUN 09; 181742Z JUN 09; 

100141Z JUN 09. 

- (6/26/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa Cables, 231433Z JUN 09; 181742Z JUN 09; 

100141Z JUN 09 

- (6/29/09 IEH) [redacted] MILGP Honduras; AEMBASSY Tegucigalpa Cables, 281458Z 

JUN 09; 231433Z JUN 09; 181742Z HUN 09; 100141Z JUN 09. 

- (7/6/09 IEH) LAP20090630498001, 302200Z JUN 09. 

- (7/8/09 IEH) Amembassy Tegucigalpa 070142Z JUL 09. 

- (7/8/09 IEH) Amembassy Tegucigalpa 070103Z JUL 09, LAP20090706006003, 

LAP20090707042001, [redacted] 

- (7/9/09 IEH) IIR 6 841 0192 09; IIR6841018709; LAP20090708068004 

- (7/13/09 IEH) Serial 503332-09DTG 101555Z JUL 09; Serial 130-09 DTG 091351Z 

JUL 09; AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa DTF 100020Z JUL 09. 
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- (7/15/09 IEH) LAP20090813068001 

- (7/15/09 IEH) LAP20090714001001 

- (7/17/09 IEH) 15 JUL LAP20090715054001, LAP20090714010002. 

- (7/21/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Managua email 19 JUL 09 

- (7/22/09 IEH) EUP20090721104011, redacted; AMEMBASSY Managua email 19 JUL 

09; IIR 641 00228 09; TAT Tegucigalpa correspondence Coordinated with JIATF-S. 

- (7/23/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Managua email 21 JUL 09. 

- (7/24/09 IEH) EUP20090720102004 Paris AFP (North European Service) 

LAP20090719059001. 

- (7/29/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Managua email 23 JUL 09. 

- (7/31/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Managua email 29 JUL 09. 

- (8/3/09 IEH) LAP200908010509002; LAP2009081049001 EUP20090801644003; 

AMEMBASSY Managua email 19 JUL 09. 

- (8/5/09 IEH) Amembassy Tegucigalpa 032313Z AUG 09; LAP20090804049001; 

LAP20090804049004 

- (8/6/09 IEH) Amembassy Tegucigalpa 032313Z AUG 09; LAP20090804049001; 

LAP20090804049004 

- (8/7/09 IEH) LAP20098080647004; Amembassy Tegucigalpa 061722Z AUG 09 

LAP20090806071001 LAP20090805059001; IIR6841034209; IIR2231074009 

Amembassy Tegucigalpa 032313Z AUG 09; LAP20090804049001; 

LAP20090804049004 

- (8/14/09 IEH) OSC/EUP20090813196010 London Guardian.co.uk in English 12 Aug 

09; OSC/LAP20090813026001, Tegucigalpa Channel 3 in Spanish 13 Aug 90. 

- (8/20/09 IEH) LAP20090817026002 San Pedro Sula Tiempa.hn in Spanish 17 AUG 09; 

LAP20090818049003 Tegucigalpa El Heraldo.hn in Spanish 18 Aug )(; 

LAP20090818071006 Parish AFP in Spanish to Mexico, Central America, and the 

Caribbean in Spanish 1735 GMT 18 AUG 09; LAP20090817470002 Mexico City EL 

UNIVERSAL.com.mx in Spanish 17 Aug 09; LAP20090819021002 Buenos Aires El 

Cronista.com in Spanish 19 Aug 09. 

- (8/21/09 IEH) Serial 521275 DTG 201524Z AUG 09; [redacted] 192300Z AUG09 

Honduras SITREP; 09TEGUCIGALPA783 Embassy Tegucigalpa. 

- (8/24/09 IEH) Serial 521396 DTG 210000Z AUG 09; Serial 20-09 DTG 211501Z AUG 

09; AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 789 20 AUG 09, WHA Early Alert 21 AUG 09; 

LAP20090820471001 Honduras -- OSC Analysis in English 20 AUG 09; 

LAP200908200026001 Tegucigalpa 

- (8/25/09 IEH [unsure if this is proper date, undated IEH]) Serial 504420-09, 

24161ZAUG09. 

- (8/26/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa DTG 242251Z AUG 09. 
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- (8/28/09 IEH) OSC, LAP20090826061009, 26 AUG 09; 504507-09, 262324ZAUG09. 

- (8/31/09 IEH) OSC, LAP20090829206004, 29 AUG 09, OSIF Report: Media Reporting 

on Ramon Custodio and the Closing of US base in Honduras 28 AUG 09. 

- (9/1/09 IEH) WHA Early Alert 31 AUG 09; AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 31 AUG 09; 

522358-09 DTG 310036Z AUG 09. 

- (9/8/09 IEH) USMILGP Tegucigalpa 4 SEP 09; Serial 522852-09 DTG 031905Z SEP 

09; AP 3 SEP 09; LAP20090904068001 San Pedro Sula Tiempa.hn in Spanish 04 Sep 

09; AMEMBASSY TEGUCIGALPA, 000880, 022344Z SEP09. 

- (9/18/09 IEH) LAP2009091705001; LAP20090916068002; LAP20090915926002. 

- (9/23/09 IEH) TAT Honduras; email exchange, 22 SEP 09; 401-09, 221628ZSEP09; 

135-09, 221613ZSEP09; 221613ZSEP09; 403-09, 221739ZSEP09; 500906-09, 

221822ZSEP09; 83-09, 221813ZSEP09; 404-09, 221909SEP09; 500908-09 

- (9/24/09 IEH) 505051-09, 222327ZSEP09 122-09, 222230ZSEP09; 123-09, 

231922ZSEP09; 408-09, 231642ZSEP09. 

- (9/25/09 IEH) 505051-09, 222327ZSEP09; 122-09, 222230ZSEP09; 123-09, 

231922ZSEP09; 408-09, 231642ZSEP09; AMEMBASSY TEGUCIGALPA, 

TEGUCIGALPA 000962, 250055ZSEP09. 

- (9/28/09 IEH) OSC CEP20090927950023 Moscow ITAR; 505051-09, 222327ZSEP09; 

123-09, 231922ZSEP09; 408-09, 231642ZSEP09; email exchange, 22 SEP0; A/ARMA 

Honduras; email exchange, 22SEP09; 401-09, 221628ZSEP09; 135-09, 221613ZSEP09; 

260015ZSEP095; 260026ZSEP09; 260053ZSEP09.  

- (9/29/09 IEH) 505051-09, 222327ZSEP09; 122-09, 222230ZSEP09; 123-09, 

231922ZSEP09; 408-9, 231642ZSEP09. 

- (9/30/09 IEH) LAP2009092802600; 29 SEP 09 LAP20090929068001; AMEMBASSY 

Tegucigalpa 300531ZSEP09; AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 29311ZSEP09. 

- (10/1/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa; 302249ZSEP09. 

- (10/2/09 IEH) LAP20090929071013 

- (10/5/09 IEH) LAP20091003053013 EFE 3 OCT 09; AMEMBASSY BRASILIA, 

Brasilia 001210, 021056ZOCT09, OSC LAP20091002032002, 022333ZSEP09; OSC 

LAP20091004053008; 050121ZOCT09. 

- (10/16/09 IEH) LAP20091015053008, 15OCT09 

- (10/20/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 200013ZOCT09; AMEMBASSY 

Tegucigalpa 200032ZOCT09. 

- (10/28/09 IEH) OSC LAP20091026026003 262033ZOCT09. 

- (10/30/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 280234ZOCT09 

- (11/2/09 IEH) LAP20091101049003, 01NOV09; LAP20091030060010, 30OCT09;  

- (11/9/09 IEH) OSC LAP20091106026001; OSC LAP 20091107062004001. 
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- (11/13/09 IEH) USMILGP SITREP 9 AUG 09; USSTRATCOM Foreign Media 

Analysis Center, OAS Mission to visit Honduras next week, 11 AUG 09. 

- (11/14/09 IEH) OSC LAP20091111026004 112150ZNOV09; OSC 

LAP20091111049013 120009ZNOV09. 

- (11/17/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 061645ZNOV09 

- (11/23/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 210051ZNOV09 

- (11/30/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 001212 DTG 271914Z; USMILGROUP 

reporting, 29 NOV. 

- (12/1/09 IEH) Serial 1283-09; DTG 301450Z; AMEMBASSY Tegucigalpa 001219; 

001220; 001221; 001222 DTG 30004Z NOV 09. 

- (12/2/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY 09 TEGUCIGALPA1231; 09 TEGUCIGALPA123; 

09STATE122781. 

- (12/7/09 IEH) LAP20091205001001 Caracas Telesur Television in Spanish 05 DEC 09; 

AMEMBASSY 09 TEGUCIGALPA1250; 09 TEGUCIGALPA1244; 09 

TEGUCIGALPA1241; LAP20091203061010 EFE Headline. 

- (12/9/09 IEH) TAT Tegucigalpa e-mail correspondence 08 DEC 09 

- (12/17/09 IEH) AMEMBASSY 09TEGUCIGALPA1290; 09 TEGUCIGALPA1289 

- (1/11/10 IEH) AMEMBASSY 10 TEGUCIGALPA6; AMEMBASSY 

10TEGUCIGALPA2; OSC, LAP20100107001001, 07 JAN 10. 

- (1/20/10 IEH) 1820597 JAN 10; AMEMBASSY 10 TEGUCIGALPA35 000026; 

AMEMBASSY 10 TEGUCIGALPA26 000026; LAP20100115006003 Panama ity 

prensa.com 15 JAN 10. 

- (1/22/10 IEH) AMEMBASSY GUATEMALA, DTG:202139Z JAN 10; 

LAP20100121020001; LAP20100118026001 

- (2/22/10 IEH) (U) FEA20100222001796 OSC Feature-La Tribuna Online 19 FEB 10; 

(U) LAP20100222032002 Brazil-OSC Summary in Portuguese 22 FEB 10. 

- (9/14/10 IEH) USEMBASSY Tegucigalpa, Tegucigalpa 00904, 100048ZSEP09. 

 

Additionally, we have noted a number of documents that appear to suffer from overbroad 

redactions. We can provide you with more detailed analysis of why we reached this conclusion 

subsequent to the call and when we have a clearer sense of the government’s view on this. 

 

Best, 

 

 

Pam Spees
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